FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

APR 13 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-4600-146

Appellate Case No. 2015-000079

Nadine Brantley, Appellant,

v.

The City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and Wherry
Construction Co., Inc., Defendants,

Of Which The City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina is the
Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**Nadine Brantley
9501 Greyson Ridge Drive
Charlotte, North Carolina 28277
704-779-2357
Appellant**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Plaintiff brought three actions against the Defendant addressed in the the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment granted by the Lower Court, now presented for the consideration by the Court of Appeals. Within the consideration of all three actions, there remain questions of fact.

Inverse Condemnation

Issue 1 Question of Evidence Regarding "Affirmative, Aggressive acts"

The Court erred in finding there was no affirmative act by the City in directing water. The City did purposely direct and affect water flow from Public streets through Spencer Park and toward 1020 Willowbrook Ave. The evidence would be for a jury to evaluate.

Issue 2 Question of ownership and responsibility to maintain or correct 24" culvert

The court erred in finding there was no question of fact as to the ownership and responsibility of maintaining the culvert under Willowbrook Ave in relation to stormwater. There is evidence for a jury to decide.

Gross Negligence

Issue 3 Lack of evidence of engineer approval after Defendant required it

The court erred in finding there was no question of fact on Gross Negligence. It is up to a Jury, having heard the evidence, to decide if "something was done that ought not to have been done" and whether even the slightest care was taken by City employees in carrying out their duties.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 12, 2012, Nadine Brantley brought this action alleging

1. Inverse Condemnation
2. Gross Negligence
3. Nuisance

against The City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and against Wherry Construction Co., Inc. alleging construction/design defect. Later it was discovered that Wherry Construction Co., Inc. is a defunct entity.

On February 21, 2012, The City of Rock Hill in its response asserted the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (S.C. Code Ann. sec 15-78-10 *et seq.* (1976, as amended.) ("SCTCA"), as a bar to Plaintiff's claims.

Two and one half years passed as we exchanged interrogatories and answers in discovery, took depositions, and did two ADRs.

On March 31, 2014 The Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.

On April 11, 2014 the Plaintiff filed a cross motion for Summary Judgment.

On August 6, 2014 the Plaintiff filed a memo in opposition to to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

On August 11, 2014, The Plaintiff filed a Motion in Support of Summary Judgment against the City of Rock Hill.

On August 11, 2014 An action for Summary Judgment by the Defendant was heard in York County South Carolina Court of Common Pleas by The Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge.

On September 2, 2014, Summary Judgment was entered in favor of the Defendant

.An action to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend judgment was heard on October 16, 2014. The motion was denied on December 18, 2014 Form 4 Order (Motion Pursuant to Rule 59 (e) denied.

On January 12, 2014 Nadine Brantley served the Notice of Appeal on the City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina and Wherry Construction Co., of which Wherry Construction Co., Inc. is not the Respondent of which Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina, is the Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The plaintiff disagrees with the The Defense in many of its Statement of the Facts.

We are here to determine if any of these facts should have survived the Defense Motion for Summary Judgment and been allowed to proceed to trial. We are not here to try the case.

Mr James G. Bagley, Deputy City Manager, submitted a sworn affidavit to the Court on August 7, 2014. In looking at the affidavit of Mr. James G. Bagley, Jr. there are serious questions of veracity of statements 4, 6, 7, and 8. (R. p. 241-242 sec. 4, 6, 7, 8). There is a serious error of omission in that he does not address the origins of the stormwater that contribute to what the Defense calls "the watercourse". Mr. Bagley fails to address the fact that in addition to the water that falls onto Spencer Park, the Defendant is channelling stormwater off of Sturgis Street, Cummings St and private and public property. (R.p. 247, R. p 257-259, p.263-264)

These channels are in the form of manmade ditches, culverts, berms and headwalls that increase, collect, pool, and direct the stormwater from public thoroughfares and private and public lands above Spencer Park and into the

watercourse and onto the Property at 1020 Willowbrook Road (formerly 536 Cummings St.). The channel does not flow through fixed banks, but opens up and diffuses near the center of Spencer Park. (R. p. 259,261).

Also in the same exhibit there are manmade pipes in the watercourse. After flowing through the inadequate and undersized culvert under Willowbrook RD., the water exits, not naturally, (Aff. Bagley R. pg.241 line 14-16) but through a Concrete reinforced pipe some 30" in diameter and some 400' in length. (R. p. 265 last 2 paras. And p. 266 first 2 paras.. Brooks recommends a 54" culvert and 54" discharge pipe to remedy the problem .(R. P.266 para 3). Bagley Affidavit (R. p. 241 line 11-14) states that the SCDOT owns and is responsible for the Willowbrook Culvert. If so, why has the Defendant not contacted the SCDOT about the situation? (R. p 146 line 22-25, R. p. 148 line 1-7)

Why has the Defendant used its resources to conduct two studies (Tim Brooks and Stormwater Master Plan by Keck and Wood and ESP, both noted engineering firms) of the flooding of the Property? Why is the Property ranked number 20 on the Defendant's stormwater Capital Improvement Projects list? (R. p 344)

The record shows that the Property lies within and is an integral part of the Defendant's Municipal Separate Stormwater System (MS4) which is a conveyance of stormwater through a series of ditches, culverts, catch basins, retention ponds, pipes, etc. which are the sole responsibility of the Municipality. (R. p232 line 25-p. 234 line 7) (R. pg. 163 line 12-15). The Property is below the hydraulic line of the creek and in a catch basin of the conveyance system. (R. p. 152 line 25- pg.153: 1-8). Witness Wright reviewed Mr. Brooks findings and found them to be accurate, but the occurrence of flooding would be even more frequent. "I would almost question it maybe should have been a higher coefficient instead of the--what he had used." (R. p 202 line 5-203 line 19)

The record shows that there are man made structures in Spencer Park that increase the volume and velocity of the storm water discharged in the Watercourse. (R. p.206 line 3-10, R. p. 221 line 2-20). If these structures were not installed by the Defendant (whose name appears in the vicinity on the sanitary sewer covers in Spencer Park) R. p. 282) then, by whom?

The defense states "that the presence of Spencer Park likely reduces the velocity of water travelling downstream towards the Property." Water "shoots"

through the culverts in the upstream of the Park, builds up in the collection areas behind the retaining walls and could also increase the velocity at which the water flows to the Property. It is established fact that increased water is directed through ditches and culverts on the City's property from the watershed above the Park. The water is channelled, collected, pooled and directed onto the Property by the Defendant thus constituting a n affirmative, positive, and aggressive act. The stormwater then flows through the Property to an exit which has been deemed to be too small thus causing the Property to flood repeatedly, causing severe, irreparable damage, and endangering the health, welfare, and even the lives of any occupants.(R. p 244)

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO ALL OF THE CAUSES OF ACTION BY PLAINTIFF AGAINST THE CITY

“The party seeking Summary Judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.”

McNair v. Rainsford, 330 S.C. 332,342,499 S.E.2d 488,493(Ct. App. 1998)

The Court Grants Summary Judgment when It finds that there is no genuine issue of material fact, and determines that the party moving for summary judgment is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Plaintiff will point out to the Court of Appeals that there are existing issues of material fact in each of the Plaintiff's Motions that entitle the Plaintiff to a jury trial to determine those issues of fact. The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

A. Summary Judgment was not proper with respect to Nuisance Cause of Action

Governments are generally acting as “landowners” when they construct and operate structural measures. Courts therefore consider governments to be acting in a “proprietary” rather than a “governmental” capacity. Sovereign Immunity

does not apply and adjacent landowners may sue governments, like adjacent private landowners, for nuisance, trespass, strict liability, and violation of riparian rights. Impacted landowners may also sue governments for "inverse condemnation."

It has been established repeatedly in the record that the Property and the Park adjoin each other on two sides. (R. P. 271) Given this fact, the City is treated as any other proprietary landowner and does not benefit from the protection of the SCTCA. There is a special relationship between the City and its next door Neighbors and the City is liable just the same as any other landowner for its torts including nuisance. Every lawyer in the room, including the Court, should have known that and the Cause of Action should not have been dismissed.

The record also shows that the watercourse and the installations which bring additional water through the Park from the watershed above are not natural, do not flow in a course contained within banks. (R. p.158 line 15-17)

As to quiet enjoyment, the Property is not habitable. It cannot be rented or sold without bringing harm to others. It would be unconscionable to do so. The City,

through Risk Management, has refused utility service absent a promise by The Plaintiff not to rent the house. It is totally unpredictable as to when and how badly the house will flood, only that it will. The County Tax Assessor has assigned no value to the structure. (R. p. 342) What use and enjoyment can the Defense possibly think can be derived for the ownership of the Property? The finding of the Lower Court was improper and the Plaintiff requests that the Court of Appeals reverse the nuisance claim of action in favor of the Plaintiff.

B. Summary Judgment was improper with respect to Inverse Condemnation

The Plaintiff respectfully asserts that the evidence in the case shows that there indeed is

1. an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency. The record shows the increase in water flow from the watershed above the elevation of the Park through ditches, culverts. It shows pooling, ponding, collecting and directing of this extra water that then flows through an unnatural watercourse, lacking banks in places, and containing man

made elements. (R. p. 272, 259, 260, 263, 264.)

2. a taking. The governmental entity is using the Property without just compensation. There have been many times in the past when The City could have bought this property or brought a condemnation procedure (Hall v. Greenville). In fact, the record shows that the City did buy a 10' strip adjoining the Property on the left hand side. Since the City did not exercise condemnation as prescribed, the Plaintiff may sue for inverse condemnation (a taking).

3. The taking is for a public use. It has already been established that The City is using the Property as part of the stormwater management system and that this property catches and retards water that would otherwise increase flooding possibilities to City owned apartments across Willowbrook on Gordon St.

4. The taking has some degree of permanence. Claims for flooding of the structure began shortly after being built (2001) until the present. The record documents at least 3 floods prior to the Plaintiff's in 2011. (R. p. 307-320) Plaintiff has had at least 4 floods since 2011. It has also been demonstrated that prior to The house being built, City staff had knowledge of potential flood problems, the foreseeability of floods and resulting damage to individuals, the degree of risk

involved, the norms of profession, applicable regulations, and the amount of discretion involved. (R. p. 245 line 1-4 of notes)

Hawkins is indeed the controlling case. The differences are that the Defendant committed all the acts that favor the Plaintiff. All of the elements of inverse condemnation are present. In Hawkins, Greenville took action to lessen the flooding by installing a pipe to increase capacity. In Rock Hill, the City installed culverts and ditches that brought in increased water from properties and streets above the Park (R. p. 249 line 3-6, R. p.211 line 23-p 212 line 7 R. p.212 line 19-21) and into a watercourse too small to handle it. (Hill v. Greenville) The Defendant directed this increased stormwater onto and through the Plaintiff's adjoining property without right of way or easement (R. p. 242 line 20-23) or adequate exit, causing permanent and irreparable damage. In Hawkins the Greenville stormwater system was deemed to be adequate. In Rock Hill, the Plaintiff has provided evidence that the culvert on Willowbrook is not adequate (R. p. 249 line 11-12) and needs remediation. (R. p. 268, R), (R. p. 345,346)

On page 10 of its Initial Brief the Defense states that " the record

amply demonstrates that the Culvert underneath Willowbrook Avenue is the responsibility of the South Carolina Department of Transportation.”

In his deposition, however, Mr. Bagley states that he is “not aware of any consultations with the SCDOT related to this property.” (R. p. Line 22-25.)

There is further discussion of contact with SCDOT and claimants “if it is a DOT road.....”(R. P147 lines 1-23, R. p.148 line 1-12.)

On page 11 of the initial brief, Defense contends, “ The City does not own or exercise control over the Culvert.” If that statement is true, why has the culvert and the repeated flooding there been studied by Mr. Brooks and Keck and Wood at the City’s expense? Why does the Property appear as priority number 20 on a Capital Improvement Projects list (R. p. 344) as part of the City’s Stormwater Master Plan? Why are many of the other projects on the list also on State owned roads?

The questions for the Court are

1. have the facts been established in the record, or
2. are there material facts that need to be decided by a jury?

a. Did the City increase the water flow through the Park by bringing water into the Park via man made structures?

b. Did that action increase the quantity and/or velocity of the water coming to the Plaintiff's property?

c. Was the watercourse contained in banks and devoid of manmade elements and in a natural state?

d. Which governmental entity is responsible for maintaining and/or remediating the culvert and the flooding conditions present at Willowbrook?

e. Just because Willowbrook is a State maintained road, does it automatically follow that the City is not responsible for the City's MS4 (Municipal separate stormwater sewer system) (stormwater conveyance system) of which the Property and the culvert are parts?

5. The Plaintiff produced pictorial evidence of the conditions in the Park. The Plaintiff has expert testimony and there are 2 studies of a culvert that the City paid for even though it now claims it has no responsibility for since it is under a state road. Is it part of the City's MS4? That is a fact worth considering. Why

would the City not contact the SCDOT over a 12 year period to inform SCDOT of the problem? (R. p.146 line 22-25) Why did the City not inform even one of the flood claimants to contact the SCDOT if the SCDOT were responsible for the culvert? (R. p. 307, 320, 339-340). The Defense simply denies that the structures at the top of the Park exist and then presents only Lawyer testimony and an affidavit (Bagley) that has been discussed earlier. The Defense has no evidence at all.

The Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Appeals Court reverse the Lower Court's order for Summary Judgment of the claim of Inverse Condemnation due to disputed questions of fact.

C. Summary Judgment was improper with respect to Gross Negligence Claim

"Gross negligence is the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do. Negligence is the failure to exercise due care, while gross negligence is the failure to exercise slight care." *Clyburn v. Sumter Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 53, 451 S.E.2d. 885, 887

(1994). "When the evidence supports but one reasonable inference....
the question (of gross negligence) becomes a matter of law for the court."

Id. at 53, 451 S.E. 2d at 887-88 (1994)

The Plaintiff contends that the gross negligence occurred early on in the permitting process. The Plaintiff has NOT claimed that the City is negligent in the issuing of the permit. The Plaintiff alleges gross negligence on the part of the inspector who overstepped his authority by not obtaining from the builder an appropriate indication from an engineer certifying the construction on the site to be "OK". The first comment on the inspection record says, "disapproved-deep, near branch & filling with water-need engineer to OK".

(R. p.196 line 24- p.197 line 10.) (R. p. 149 line 12-16) (R. p. 245 line dated 7/7/99)

The inspector cites a water problem on the Property. In just a few months after the Certificate of Occupancy is issued,(R. p. 296) the first flooding incident occurs (R. p. 307). If there had been an engineer "OK" would it not be on file? (R. p. 236 line 10-18.)There is no indication in the construction file, or in the file from the house next door which has the same comment that any engineer gave an "OK". The second inspector wrote "OK" on the inspection card and eventually the

Construction moved on. The inspection card is part of the record. It has been pointed out that dates are out of order.(R. P. 245). The Plaintiff believes that an engineer report must be in writing, sealed, and retained as part of the record and has so stated in the record. A verbal "OK" as the Defense contends was provided would be useless. In addition, it is a matter of record that the City has undertaken two studies of the Property and the water flow. (R. p.151 line 10-20) The Preliminary study was done by Tim Brooks. The Plaintiff's witness, Ronald Wright, An engineer,confirmed Mr. Brooks study to be accurate, except he would have Given an even higher coefficient than the ten year incidence of flooding of the Property. (R. p. 202 line 11-17). The City hired Keck and Wood and ESP engineering firms to conduct stormwater studies throughout the City. As a result, the Property was found to flood frequently and was placed in a floodplain and was also placed on the City's Capital Improvement list as priority number 20. R. p 344,345.) Mr. Bagley in deposition stated that the study was complete and promised to provide the study to the Plaintiff. (R. p. 151 line 17-25) The study has Not been produced by the Defense, and even when requested in Discovery 12/2013, it was denied to the Plaintiff by reason of not being complete and a

statement that the Property was not in it. (the study). A summary of the purpose and the findings of the study was published on the Municipal Association of South Carolina website in June 2013.

What is the logical possibility that any engineer gave an "OK"? It was the City's responsibility to supervise the construction in so as to provide a measure of safety for future owners. At the time the Certificate of Occupancy was given in 2001, the permit reads:

1. "All work must comply with the 1997 Standard Building Code and the 1996 National Electric Code. All provisions of laws and ordinances governing this type of work will be complied with whether specified herein or not." (R. p. 246)
Compliance would require an engineer's report as requested by first inspector.
(R. p. 231, line 7-24

We must go to the Building Code to determine the applicable facts. The code will determine whether or not a written report needs to be produced.

A Certificate of Occupancy should not have been issued without the report.

"The proof is in the pudding."

Statute of limitations

Plaintiff had no knowledge or warning of flooding prior to August 23, 2011.

Suit was filed in Jan. of 2012.

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