THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 11 2016

Appeal From York County
Court of Common Pleas
S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2012-CP-46-00146
Appellate Case No. 2015-000079

Nadine Brantley, Appellant,

v.

The City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina, and Wherry
Construction Co., Inc., Defendants,

Of Which The City of Rock Hill, a body politic and subdivision of the State of South Carolina is the
Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT.

W. Mark White
Jeremy D. Melville
SPENCER & SPENCER, P.A.
226 East Main Street
P.O. Box 790
Rock Hill, SC 29731
Tel: (803) 327-7191

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

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION BY PLAINTIFF AGAINST THE CITY

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is an integral part of the rules of procedure, intended to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder. Bankers Trust of S.C. v. Benson, 267 S.C. 152, 226 S.E.2d 703 (1976). "An

appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC: summary judgment is properly upheld when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Wells v. City of Lynchburg, 331 S.C. 296, 301, 501 S.E.2d 746, 749 (Ct.App.1998); see Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). "In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court is limited to the evidence that was before the trial court and applies the same standard of review as did the trial court.'" Wells, 331 S.C. at 301, 501 S.E.2d at 749 (quoting 5 Am.Jur.2d Appellate Review § 700 (1995)).

B. Summary Judgment was proper with respect to Nuisance Cause of Action

The lower court's dismissal of Plaintiff's nuisance claim was proper on two independent grounds. First, the nuisance claim against the City is barred by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA") which provides that "a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from . . . a nuisance." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(7). Plaintiff has offered no legal precedent to circumvent the express provisions contained in the SCTCA.

Even if one ignored the express preclusion by the SCTCA, the record in this matter lacks any evidence of actions by the

City to interfere with Plaintiff's use and enjoyment of the Property. "A nuisance is a substantial and unreasonable interference with the plaintiff's use and enjoyment of his property." O'Cain v. O'Cain, 322 S.C. 551, 562, 473 S.E.2d 460, 466 (Ct. App. 1996).

In this case Plaintiff has not specified any acts or uses which could be characterized as unreasonable, unwarrantable or unlawful. The City owns a public park over which a natural stream flows downhill in the normal course. Upon review of the record, the lower court properly concluded that the record lacks any evidence that City has taken any action to alter, increase or direct the natural flow within the Watercourse. Likewise, the record is void of any evidence that the City's park has been used in any manner which interferes with Plaintiff's use and enjoyment of her Property. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's order for summary judgment as to the nuisance cause of action.

C. Summary Judgment was proper with respect to Inverse Condemnation Cause of Action

The lower court held that the record contains no facts that can be construed as an affirmative, positive, aggressive act by the City to support a claim of inverse condemnation. (Order, R. p. 4.) The lower court was correct and summary judgment was proper on this claim.

"To establish an inverse condemnation, a plaintiff must show: (1) an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency; (2) a taking; (3) the taking is for a public use; and (4) the taking has some degree of permanence." Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 S.C. 280, 290, 594 S.E.2d 557, 562 (Ct. App. 2004). "The South Carolina cases addressing inverse condemnation are uniform in requiring that the claim be proved by 'affirmative, positive, aggressive' acts by the governmental agency. Allegations of mere failure to act are insufficient." Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 S.C. 280, 291, 594 S.E.2d 557, 563 (Ct. App. 2004).

The holding of Hawkins is controlling in this case. (Order, R. p. 4.) In Hawkins, a landowner was suing the City of Greenville for damages arising from stormwater flooding. The record in Hawkins contained evidence that private developers installed pipes in a creek to expand the creek's ability to handle runoff; that the City of Greenville subsequently installed an additional pipe to increase the creek's stormwater capacity; and that the City of Greenville installed riprap along the banks of the creek. Hawkins, 358 S.C. at 291, 594 S.E.2d at 563. Following these improvements, a rainstorm caused the creek to overflow and flood the plaintiff's property. The plaintiff alleged that the City of

Greenville's actions were a cause of the flood and asserted claims against the city for inverse condemnation, negligence, trespass and nuisance, among others. This Court found that the City of Greenville's actions did not rise to "affirmative" and "positive" acts required for inverse condemnation.

Like Hawkins, the record in this case contains no facts that can be construed as an affirmative, positive, aggressive act by the City. In this case, the record reveals that the City has not materially altered or exercised even a minimum amount of control over the Watercourse above, within or below the Property.

Upstream from the Property, the record indicates that the City has not altered the Watercourse or altered the volume or velocity of water flowing through the Watercourse; the City has not diverted surface waters towards the Property; and the City has not artificially collected surface waters and cast them in concentrated form onto the Property. (Wright Dep., R. p. 204, line 20 - p. 205, line 8.) These facts are not in dispute. Neither of Plaintiff's experts was able to testify as to any action by the City which has directed water toward the Property or increased the rate of flow of water to the Property. According to one of Plaintiff's experts, it is more likely that Spencer Park reduces the volume or velocity of

water flowing through the Watercourse. (Wright Dep., R. p. 204, lines 2-19.)

Within the Property, the record contains no evidence that the natural Watercourse located thereon has been dedicated to the City, was accepted by the City or has been designed, constructed, or in any manner altered by the City.

Immediately below the Property, the record amply demonstrates that the Culvert under Willowbrook Avenue is the responsibility of the South Carolina Department of Transportation. (Order, R. p. 4; Bagley Aff., R. p. 242, ¶ 9; Brantley Dep., R. p. 180, lines 22-24, R. p. 181, line 22 - p. 182, line 7, Appendix p. 7, line 9 - p. 8, line 9, Appendix p. 9, lines 11-14; Wright Dep., R. p. 198, line 18 - p. 200, line 17; Barfield Dep., R. p. 235, line 24 - p. 236, line 9.) Plaintiff's expert testified that the flooding of the residence on the Property was caused by the Culvert. (Wright Dep. R. p. 196, lines 10-22, R. p. 198, lines 7-17.) The City does not own or exercise control over the Culvert; the City was not involved in the design or construction of the Culvert; and the City has not made any improvements or modifications to the Culvert.

Therefore, Plaintiff has failed to produce any facts to show that the City committed "affirmative" and "positive" acts as to the Property to sustain a claim for inverse

condemnation. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's Order as to Plaintiff's claim for inverse condemnation.

D. Summary judgment was proper with respect to Gross Negligence Claim

The lower correctly ruled that Plaintiff has failed to establish a claim against the City for gross negligence. (Order, R. pp. 5-6.) "Gross negligence is the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do. Negligence is the failure to exercise due care, while gross negligence is the failure to exercise slight care." Clyburn v. Sumter Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 17, 317 S.C. 50, 53, 451 S.E.2d 885, 887 (1994). "When the evidence supports but one reasonable inference . . . the question [of gross negligence] becomes a matter of law for the court." Id. at 53, 451 S.E.2d at 887-88 (1994).

Plaintiff's gross negligence claim is based on two factual frameworks. (Order, R. p. 4.) First, she argues that the City was grossly negligent in the issuance of the construction permit and certificate of occupancy for the house. Second, she argues that the City was grossly negligent in failing to prevent the house from flooding once the house was constructed. Both contentions fail as a matter of law.

1. Building and Permitting Claims

The lower court correctly ruled that Plaintiff's claim for gross negligence in issuing the construction permit or the certificate of occupancy fails as a matter of law. First, Plaintiff's negligent permitting claim is barred by the two year statute of limitations under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA"). S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110.¹ Because all material facts and characteristics were known or readily knowable upon completion of the residence, the limitations period expired during 2003.

Even assuming that the limitations period did not commence running under the discovery rule² until a flood event put an owner on inquiry notice, these claims are still barred by the expiration of the statute of limitations. According to Plaintiff, the Property flooded in 2001, 2003 and 2007 and claims were filed with the City. Therefore, the two year

¹ The lower court did not rule on the City's statute of limitations defense. However, the bar of the applicable statute of limitations provides an additional sustaining ground for upholding summary judgment in favor of the City on this claim. "The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." Rule 220, SCACR. "The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

² Pursuant to the discovery rule "[t]he statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

statute of limitations period expired well before the filing of this action.

Second, Plaintiff's claim for gross negligence fails under the SCTCA and common law for lack of duty. "The Plaintiff must present evidence of the governmental entity's duty to act in order to recover under the [South Carolina Tort Claims] Act." Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 S.C. 280, 293, 594 S.E.2d 557, 564 (Ct. App. 2004). "The determination of the existence of a duty is solely the responsibility of the court. Whether the law recognizes a particular duty is an issue of law to be decided by the Court. An affirmative legal duty exists only if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance." Hendricks v. Clemson Univ., 353 S.C. 449, 456, 578 S.E.2d 711, 714 (2003).

Under established law, the City does not have a duty to a property owner for the issuance of a building permit to a homebuilder. Summers v. Harrison Const., 298 S.C. 451, 456, 381 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 1989). In Summers, a homeowner sued the Lexington County Department of Planning and Development ("Department") claiming that the Department was grossly negligent in issuing a construction permit to an unlicensed builder. Summers, 298 S.C. at 455, 381 S.E.2d at 496. The Court of Appeals held that the Department owed no

duty to the plaintiffs and therefore was not liable in negligence. Id.

In this case, the lower court properly ruled that there is neither a common law duty nor a statutory duty owed by the City to Plaintiff. (Order, R. p. 6.) The City issued a building permit to Lawrence Wherry, a duly licensed homebuilder. The City did not construct the house on the Property. Contrary to established South Carolina law, Plaintiff seeks to hold the City liable as the insurer of any defects in construction. See Brady Dev. Co. v. Town of Hilton Head Island, 312 S.C. 73, 77, 439 S.E.2d 266, 268 (1993) (citing Summers for the proposition that "the duty to issue a building permit to only qualified applicants does not impose upon public officials the responsibility to guard against poor performance in construction").

Separately and independently, the lower court also ruled that Plaintiff's claim for gross negligence as to permitting fails due to the lack of supporting facts in the record. Plaintiff argues that the City was grossly negligent because it failed to obtain from Wherry certain engineering approval prior to issuing a permit to Wherry Construction. However, the lower court properly rejected this bald assertion not only on legal grounds (lack of duty) but also because Plaintiff failed to adduce facts in the record to support the underlying

premise. The only facts in the record confirm that the City did receive such engineering approval. (Bagley Dep., Appendix p. 3, line 18 - p. 6, line 5.)³ The lower court was correct in ruling that the City was under no duty to Plaintiff to obtain a written engineering report and, even if there were any such requirement, the mere absence of a written report over a decade later is insufficient to establish a reasonable inference of gross negligence. (Order, R. p. 5.)

2. Failure to Prevent Flooding

The lower court properly ruled that Plaintiff's claim for gross negligence in failing to prevent flooding of the Property fails as a matter of law. (Order, R. pp. 6-7.) In her claim that the City's refusal and failure to prevent flooding is actionable gross negligence, Plaintiff's theory of liability is seemingly premised on the inaccurate belief "that all the water that falls onto the ground in Rock Hill belongs to the City." (Brantley Dep., R. p. 186, lines 3-16.) Plaintiff's misplaced theory is shared by both of her designated experts in this case. (Wright Dep, Appendix p. 13, lines 4-18; Barfield Dep., R. p. 233, line 25 - p. 234, line 7.) This theory fails as a matter of law for at least three reasons.

³ Bagley was testifying as the designated representative of the City of Rock Hill under Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCP.

First, it is undisputed that this case involves claims of flooding from a natural watercourse.⁴ "An upstream owner has a right and expectation that water will flow unobstructed" Johnson v. Williams, 238 S.C. 623, 633, 121 S.E.2d 223, 228 (1961); see Dize Awning & Tent Co. v. City of Winston-Salem, 29 N.C. App. 297, 302, 224 S.E.2d 257, 260 (1976) (holding that "surface waters may be drained into a natural drainway without liability to lower property owners for damage caused to lands along the lower drainway as a result of increased flow of a natural stream."). Although the case law actually allows an upstream owner to reasonably increase the rate of flow in a watercourse, the record in this case establishes that the City has not materially altered the Watercourse and has not increased the volume or velocity that naturally drains into the Watercourse. The City is not strictly liable to Plaintiff for waters flowing through a natural watercourse as a matter of law.

Second, the City has no duty under South Carolina law to protect all property, or in this case, the subject Property, from flooding. The record has no evidence that the flooding at issue is the result of any action by the City. The City

⁴ "To constitute a water course, there must be a stream usually flowing in a particular direction, though it need not flow continually. It may sometimes be dry. It must flow in a definite channel, having a bed, sides, or banks, and it naturally discharges itself into some other stream or body of water." Johnson v. Williams, 238 S.C. 623, 633, 121 S.E.2d 223, 228 (1961).

has not altered the Watercourse or the flow of water upstream from the Property. The City does not own and has not assumed control over the Watercourse on the Property. Finally, the City has no control over the infrastructure located immediately downstream from the Property as Willowbrook Avenue and the drainage infrastructure associated with Willowbrook Avenue is owned and maintained by the SCDOT. In short, the record is void of evidence upon which to find the existence of a duty owed by the City to prevent flooding at the Property.

Third, Plaintiff's claim for gross negligence is barred pursuant to the SCTCA. This Court recently held that municipal stormwater activities are excepted from the general waiver of immunity provided under the SCTCA. Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 S.C. 280, 293, 594 S.E.2d 557, 564 (Ct. App. 2004). The Court articulated the applicable exceptions that "bear directly upon the alleged acts and failures to act by the City with respect to the municipal drainage system." Id. The Court provided that:

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